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INTERVIEW

Q: Could you tell us a little about when and where you were born and a bit about your
family?

MERRILL: I was born in Baltimore in 1934 in the midst of the depression. My mother
went home to her parent’s house to have me. I was delivered by Alan Guttmacher,
subsequently a very well known physician and author, but in the context of the time home
deliveries were still a normal thing. I got out of Baltimore, so to speak, after the first six
months. Actually I grew up in New York, and partly in Connecticut.

My father was a Russian immigrant. He was born in a little town in the center of a
triangle formed by Minsk, Pinsk, and Dvinsk. Halfway between Minsk and Pinsk. This is
no joke. The name of the place was Mozyr, in what is now the state of Belarus, and it was
right on the main invasion route to Moscow. Army after army passed over it. He was one
of a family of eight who slipped out in 1912, hiding in haycarts to get through the
borders. A brother came first and then the other seven came through Ellis Island, except
for one sister who at 17 traveled across Siberia and China, the Pacific Ocean, and the
continental U.S. by herself.

My mother | believe was born in Baltimore. Her parents were immigrants from the same
general area of Western Russia. I'm not quite clear where. My wife’s parents were both
from Lithuania, which is not very far away. All this territory kept rattling back and forth
between Poland and Ukraine and Belarus. Ellie, that is, my wife, was born in Scranton,
Pennsylvania.

One of the great days of my life was in the summer of 1976, shortly before my father
died, taking “Merrilly,” our cruising sailboat, and sailing it through New Y ork harbor on
the way to Nantucket. We picked up my Dad and sailed this elegant private yacht by the
Statue of Liberty and alongside Ellis Island. He could clearly remember coming through
in steerage in 1912 as a 10 year old unable to speak a word of English. A classic
American story.

Q: What did your father do? Also your mother or was she a housewife?

MERRILL: The family settled in Boston. He graduated from Boston Latin. He attended
the University of Chicago for perhaps a year. No possibility of continuing; no money. He



worked varying jobs. | don't remember what they were, but at one point he was briefly a
newspaper reporter in Chicago. When I was born he was unemployed. He lost all his
money in the depression bank failure which is why my mother had to return to Baltimore
to have me.

Then he caught on with CBS. He became associate producer and then producer of a
program called Town Hall of the Air and then a program called Invitation to Learning, a
book program. Then he was director of the cultural aspects at CBS, meaning public
affairs programming of the early radio days.

Q: I remember there was Clifton Fadiman and all that on all the stations in prime time.

MERRILL: This was the Sunday afternoon intellectual corner. A couple of them were in
prime time.

Q: On Sunday afternoon most of the people would listen. They were considered very
important.

MERRILL: They were the equivalent of what PBS, with programs such as the Civil War
series, is today. The History Channel or A&E would also be analogous.

My mother was a strikingly attractive woman; one of these people who mature well.
Some people as they get older, sort of Myrna Loy style, build presence and grace. She
worked at varying jobs, mostly a housewife. As time went on, she became a three day a
week assistant to Samuel Untermeyer, a world class poet, author, and intellectual of the
day. When he died she took a similar position with a wealthy entrepreneur and financier
who owned, among many other things, a Lake Tahoe ski area. She kept his New York
office.

| grew up first in Washington Heights, 176th Street, at 4 South Pinehurst Avenue near
Fort Washington Avenue and the George Washington Bridge. It was a six floor elevator
building on a city street not far from where Henry Kissinger or Colin Powell grew up. All
that is now drug territory, but at the time it was middle to lower class. If | was poor | do
not remember it as such. | went to PS 173.

With the advantage of hindsight things got better as CBS and radio exploded. But my
parents never lost a kind of depression psychosis very common to people who had a
tough time in the early ‘30s. We did get a summer home on what is now South Norwalk
High School property adjacent to a working farm. In 1945 all that was strawberry fields,
not covered with houses.

When | came to Washington | used to fly as a private pilot out of Bailey's Crossroads
airport where now it is all high rises. The house in Norwalk used block ice for
refrigeration, coal for heat, and we grew vegetables and tomatoes as a victory garden was
then described. So | had summers there, but | went to public school in Manhattan.



The single most important part of growing up was the fact that my father got all the
comic books free because he worked for CBS. Don't ask me why. He brought home all
the comic books. I think he was the least popular man in the neighborhood and maybe
one step beyond that. His view was that if you learned to read it didn't matter what you
read. Eventually | would grow out of comic books.

I do not think that my friends’ parents had exactly the same attitude. Nevertheless he was
absolutely right. By the time | was twelve or thirteen I was well hooked on reading and |

received a kind of basic education out of that little trick of enticing me to read. I used the
same trick more or less with my own children.

Q: Comic books during this period were quite important. Most of us grew up on them.
They were not like the rather passive cartoons the kids watch today. You had to read the
comic books.

MERRILL: Comic books probably played the same role that television plays now.
Parents say they don't want the kids to watch television too much. I say the kids probably
get a pretty good education out of television, learn the language, judge for themselves. It
is one of these things on a curve. Too much is excess by definition but that rarely
happens.

Q: With your mother working for a well known poet, your father producing shows of
such intellectual caliber, and growing up in an environment where everybody probably
sat around the table at night and talked, you must have gotten quite an education at
home.

MERRILL: Yes. I think argue would be a better word than talk which still takes place in
our house. | did get a good education at home. | think they did a good job on the reading
thing. | think they had trouble with me. | was headed for reform school. They bailed me
out by taking the last money they had and sending me to a very fancy prep school in
Riverdale which did in fact more or less civilize me. It did provide during the last three
years of high school an excellent basic education. Much more so in some ways than
college.

Q: I'was sent from Annapolis to a prep school where you work your way up in
Connecticut called Kent. I had the same thing. | don't think | was headed anywhere until |
got there. | got my real education there.

MERRILL: So did I and I value a secondary school education. It is an age when one’s
mind is like a sponge. In their own way our three children have all been readers. | think
they all got an excellent education. All three went to Cornell for college, and I'm very
satisfied. I'm also very satisfied with the secondary education they got in both public and
private schools.

Many people would not say that. The world is full of people who are highly critical of the
educational system, but I thank the taxpayers in the end. The taxpayers provided me with



a decent elementary school education, a decent middle school, and even though it was a
private school in a way the taxpayers underwrite it all. With all our problems the
education | received, my wife received, and our children all received was really very
good. Too bad more of it didn’t stick with me.

Q: Had you gotten at home or in high school or in the neighborhood anything in the way
of foreign affairs exposure?

MERRILL: No | can't say | did. It is a very good question. No, I think there was a normal
exposure. World War Il was going on. The nation was interested in foreign affairs. In
1941 | was seven years old. | do not think there was a special interest in foreign affairs as
opposed to domestic affairs or art or any other kind of intellectual interests. 1 did not have
any particular foreign affairs specialty in high school or a specialized interest in college.
This does not mean | was not interested. | loved taking comparative government from
Luigo Einaudi and a course in the presidency from Clinton Rossiter but It's like saying
did you play sports? Yes, | played baseball, football, hockey and many others. Foreign
affairs was like one more sport.

Q: How about your reading? What sort of things were you reading?

MERRILL: I started reading sea stories, and then opening the west stories. | still read
mostly biography and history. Not just Captain Hornblower. | remember the characters
but not most of the authors. Alsop stories. Altshuler. G.A. Henty. He was a wonderful
writer.

Q: I cant remember the names but he wrote these wonderful stories about scouts.

MERRILL: Going through the forest and dealing with the Indians, and exploring the
west. | would say it was a combination of adventure and biography and sea stories. It was
a lot of reading, a lot of history. Then my father would take me over to the library. He
would suggest things. The autobiography of Lincoln Steffens, the great muckraker, had a
huge impact on me. I read every word of Grant’s memoirs.

Then | started to move into other books that interested me. On the other hand, once one
reached high school there is so much required reading and correspondingly less time for
outside reading. The same is true of course in college. The books tend to be dominated by
assigned reading.

| still always read an hour or two of non-business, non-essential reading before I retire.
Mostly history and biography, occasionally an historical novel like I, Claudius or Guard
of Honor. Anything by Zoe Oldenbourg, who writes about the middle ages, is worth
reading. She brings them to life.

There was this great reading period of three or four years until 1 got to the last two years
of high school. I used to keep a flashlight under the covers so I could read without my
parents being able to spot the light.



Q: Where did you go to college?
MERRILL: I went to Cornell.
Q: Why?

MERRILL: There is a short form and a long form. The short form is that | took the state
regent's exam and won a full scholarship to Cornell, to any university in the state. | chose
Cornell, barely ever having been on a college campus, because it was a big name. They
had to take me because | won the scholarship. | was admitted late. | remember taking the
railroad up. There was a place for me in a rooming house off campus. I didn't even know
where the campus was. | had no orientation, nothing like the kind of thing that takes place
there now. So | was kind of alone there for awhile and made my way through the system.

Q: Did you have a major?

MERRILL: Government. Three different credit hours and it could have been history or
philosophy. | could have majored in history. I got turned off on philosophy. I took a
course in logic. | thought it would be helpful to learn something logical, and | found out
there was no logic in a philosophy logic course. Then I took a course in ethics. Ethics is
not such a bad thing to learn about. There was no ethics in the ethics course. So it kind of
said something to me.

| must say it was a predictor of life. Stuart: you are a career Foreign Service officer so I'll
pose this strictly rhetorically. How much merit is there in the merit system? Some, to be
sure. There is about as much logic in a logic course as there is merit in the merit system,
which is to say considerable but by no means complete.

Q: I think there is something to that. Generally the people | have great respect for
thought for themselves and as they were coming along usually moved up the ladder.

MERRILL: Following your line of thought about majoring, several friends of mine in
college were turned on intellectually about the time they became upperclassmen. I never
did get turned on until | became managing editor of the Cornell Daily Sun. But it was the
equivalent of being energized in some field.

| did have a series of excellent professors. Clinton Rossiter, Cushman on constitutional
law, Konvitz on American ideals, people who I still think were first class intellects. The
one that made the biggest impression on me was Rossiter, a well known conservative
historian of the Presidency, who had a very simple philosophy.

He stood up there and said, "Look, | know something you don't know. At the end of this
semester | am going to give you a test. You are going to tell me what | tell you. You are
going to write it in essay form and check off a number of points. If you want to ask a

question, that's fine with me. | have no objection to questions. But in the end, what | tell



you and what my assigned readings are is going to be on that test. It is a very simple thing
here. I know more than you do. My job is to convey it to you."

| finally found a professor whose idea of teaching was not to listen to student baloney,
but to tell you something. I started to look for more professors like that and found a few.
We all select courses based on a combination of what you want to study, what you ought
to study, what the college requires, what you are interested in, and who is the best
professor. | think Cornell provided me with a first class education but as | said before
only half of it stuck. There was no prospect of going to graduate school in the context of
he time. This was 1955.

Q: Graduate school wasn't that big a deal in those days. It was not the prerequisite it
became later on.

MERRILL: No. I think this is the advantage of hindsight. There were three factors at
work. First, graduate school wasn't as big of a deal. Second, | came in just post Gl Bill. 1
entered in '51 just as the great mass of veterans had left. Third, the education system was
really newly formed. I didn't understand this at the time, but in 1939 only three percent of
the college age population went to college and by 1950 over half were attending,
including me. This was an enormous change.

The infrastructure of the system really wasn’t up to it. But the important thing was that
graduate school meant getting a scholarship, meant somebody paying for it. No such
things existed. There were no student aid programs, or if there were I didn’t know about
them. Counselors other than a faculty advisor were non-existent.

There were a few of my friends, one or two, who knew they wanted to go to Harvard
Law, a few who wanted to become doctors, engineers who knew they wanted to be
engineers. The rest of them didn't have a clue. We all expected to go into the army
anyway. You had a three way choice of army service: three years as an officer, two years
as an enlisted man, six months and then five and a half years in the reserves. One could
play it any way one wanted to but | never met anyone who even thought about not
serving.

So the question of going to graduate school was not open to me. The money was not
there; the expectation wasn't there. Only those who were driven to know exactly what
they wanted to do even considered graduate school and that would have been after
military service. Moreover, | had had enough of school by then and I doubt I would have
wished to continue on anyway.

| did toy with the idea of a combination business school and undergraduate degree which
Cornell offered. As a matter of fact, our oldest child, Doug, in fact took this program as
an engineer. He received a B.S., an M.S. and an MBA in six years. But that required a
decision as a junior. Being managing editor of The Cornell Sun, in itself a sixty to eighty
hour a week job, made that impossible. So | just graduated.

10



I went to sea when I was 16, shipping out of a union hall in hell’s kitchen, a rather tough
area of New York. I’m still, believe it or not, a card carrying member of the National
Maritime Union, with top seniority.

In later years the union was found to have been discriminatory under various provisions

of the Taft-Hartley bill against so-called permit carders, meaning newer sailors like me.

Anyone who went to sea before 1951 or during the Korean War was granted permanent

senior rights, and could essentially pick one’s ship and one’s run. This notice I received

years later in the mid-sixties when | was in the State Department. Somehow they tracked
me down.

| had papers as a messman, wiper, and ordinary seaman. Mostly | shipped on deck. |
remember my first voyage out of Newark, N.J. bound for Bremerhaven. To this day I can
recall the first feel, the lift, of blue water off Ambrose light and the sense of adventure
that came with that. Every time | sail down the Severn River and hit the swell of
Chesapeake Bay | get that same feeling. It is step one, not to the eastern shore, but to
Cape Horn or South Australia--to the unknown.

What | made going to sea paid for about a quarter of college. The scholarship was
supposed to pay for all of it but inflation had eaten the grant away to the point where it
covered at most another quarter. I made several thousand dollars running the Cornell Sun.
If I had been less idealistic, | could have made more. My parents kicked in about a
quarter, although even this was difficult because with the advent of television my father
lost his radio job, and I had a sister starting at Wisconsin. The combination of the
scholarship, going to sea, the Cornell Sun, and my parents was enough to get me through.

The day I graduated, there was no prospect of borrowing money. I've been a trustee of
Cornell and of several other schools. It absolutely infuriates me that 80% of the students
are on financial aid and that more than 50% graduate more than $10,000 in debt. | haven't
a clue what to do about it. There are no simple answers. | suppose it is preferable to have
the option of debt but surely our country can do better. My own foundations give many
scholarships but it is barely a drop in the bucket.

Q: So in 1955 you graduated. What then?

MERRILL: I had a series of old cars. One cost $35. | kept them on the road. In time the
rods would spring. If the car went faster than 35 mph, the oil pressure would drop, the car
would throw a rod meaning a piston would freeze or break, and | would leave the car on
the road somewhere.

In one of these old buckets I drove south. I do not remember graduating. | have
absolutely no memory of that. | know | was there because | have a couple of pictures of
myself and some friends. | stopped at every town with a newspaper looking for a job. To
show my level of competence, | couldn't even drive in a straight direction. If you drive
south from Ithaca, you cross Pennsylvania and eventually get to Virginia. | ended up in
Plainfield, New Jersey.

11



| got a summer job as a reporter working nights on the Plainfield Courier News.
Plainfield was a little town in the center of New Jersey. Late in the summer | walked into
the Newark News, which was the statewide paper of New Jersey, and asked the city
editor for a job. I told him I worked on the Cornell Sun. He asked me if | could write a
lead sentence. | said sure | could. He said you're hired. | worked there for a year as, |
quickly discovered, at 22 the youngest and undoubtedly most naive staff reporter.

| found out that my boss, who had been there 10 years, was making $75 a week, and |
was making $65 a week. This did not strike me as a particularly promising path. So | quit
and became a ski bum at Stowe, Vermont.

But | did get very good training from my compatriots at the Newark News. They were all
the equivalent of AP reporters. They could sit down and write a story perfectly graph by
graph right out of the typewriter straight into the paper on deadline. By the end of a year |
could do that too. | could dictate a complete story by phone.

Being a newspaper publisher now it rather astonishes me that our people have difficulty
doing this. I've got 55 editorial people in the newspaper company in Annapolis. I'll bet
$100 not one of them can come back from a normal city council meeting and just write
one, two, or three stories direct, much less dictate them. They fuddle around for hours. |
can't understand it. I don't think I'm particularly competitive. There are better
newspapermen than | am by a lot. But the pressure of having to produce quickly and
accurately at a comparable level with my peers was extremely useful discipline for later
life.

Q: Well it is the training.

MERRILL: Yes, it is. The ability to take a complex set of issues, compress them into the
essential story, and summarize it all in descending order of importance is the single best
intellectual training one can get. It is useful in business, in government, in every walk of
life.

To get to the heart of the issue, to ask the right questions, to develop an instinct for what
is omitted or obscured, and to write it down in simple declarative sentences is more rare
than most realize. The government or large bureaucracies love the passive tense. It is
believed that, rather than I think, or he said. Whether it is U.S. Grant or a working
contemporary businessman, those who think clearly write clearly and vice versa.

In any case a year of newspapering is first class intellectual training. So was Rossiter's
training, and then Mike Wallace’s. | was looking around for another job and was offered
one as Mike Wallace's first question writer on a then new program called Nightbeat,
which became the first real in depth interview program and a smash hit of the day. It was
Mike Wallace at his very beginning as an interviewer. But the job only paid $60 a week. |
was making $65 plus $30 in expenses for a total of $95 some of which was tax free. So |
made a big mistake. | turned the job down.
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The Newark News' idea was that you put in a $30 expense account every week whether
or not you had expenses. The second week | didn't have any expenses. My boss called me
in and said, "Listen, you develop $28 or $29 worth of expenses now, because everybody
else here is putting that in and you had better put it in. Invent it! This was kind of an
interesting lesson on how companies were managed.

Q: This was part of your ethics training.

MERRILL: Yes. | suppose they avoided some indirect costs and employees received
some tax free income. It was the way the system ran, ethical, legal or not. Anyway, |
turned Wallace’s job down, quit, and went up to Stowe as a ski bum. For $10 a week, a
bunk, and a ski pass | made beds, served meals, skied several hours a day, and partied at
night. | had a grand time but got bored with it in about six weeks.

Q: What about the military? Wasn't that hovering?

MERRILL.: I had already decided. My college roommate was Dick Schaap, now a well-
known TV sports-caster who has written a raft of books. He was the editor of the Cornell
Sun, which meant he was responsible for the editorial page. | was the managing editor,
and was responsible for day to day operation of the rest of the editorial side of the paper.
We ran the thing together. He decided he was going in as an officer. | decided to do the
two years or the six months as an enlisted man. | didn't know which. He went to OCS in
the summer after graduation. For some reason | had to wait until they called me. I had no
objection to going. This was long before rebellion.

Q: It was just something you did.

MERRILL: It was your obligation to your country. The United States was in the midst of
doing a very big thing, and most people understood it. One didn’t have to be wild about a
military career to know conscription was something that had to be done.

The national reaction to Sputnik in 1957 was overwhelming. The idea that the Soviet
Union had gotten ahead of us in space was simply unacceptable to most Americans. The
sense of the time was that the country needed a draft, it needed a military, and it needed
to compete, not only in space, but with the economy and around the world. Military
service was not a debatable issue. You did it when they called you.

As much as | love to ski | decided | made a mistake with Mike Wallace. So from Stowe |
called every day to producer Ted Yates' office or his secretary, Marlene Sanders, who
later became a CBS newscaster. | said | made a mistake not taking this job. I'm still
interested if something opens up. | called that office every single day, five days a week
for three weeks. Finally, they said one of the people we hired didn't work out. Would you
like the job? I said, "I sure would." They said," Be here in 24 hours." | quit on the spot,
hopped into the car, and drove down to New York. | parked the car in a garage. It was
three months before | had time to get it out.
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| became Mike Wallace's first, or maybe second, question writer. There was a fellow
named Al Ramrus, now a very well-known and successful Hollywood producer of
documentaries, and myself. We would each do the research and script the questions for
five of 10 guests, half an hour each, nightly. It took about 20 questions, linked together in
series, plus an introduction and closing comments. Of course since the show was live one
never knew exactly where it would go. It was called Nightbeat and was truly
revolutionary in its time.

Mike Wallace, then about 35, had a Catholic mind. He knew something about everything.
There was almost no question, no matter how personal, intimate, embarrassing, or
relevant, that he wouldn’t ask. And people would answer, pouring out their innermost
thoughts. Now we know this is common. Then it was innovative and surprising.

| would script questions for a member of the President’s cabinet, a movie actor such as
Ben Gazzarra, or Elaine Stritch, or a current best-selling author. I did Hugh Hefner as he
was promoting Playboy. I did a pawnbroker and the head of Tiffany’s.

Each required a preliminary interview and immense research into their respective areas of
expertise. | remember interviewing the leading ballet dancer of the time, Andrei
Eglevsky, a Russian emigre and defector. Mike Wallace knew something about 13th
century ballet, 14th century ballet, and so on. This was true for every area of human
knowledge.

Thus to put together 20 questions for Mike and his crackerjack producer, Ted Yates, or
even to conduct the preliminary interview with the guest, required immense research
quickly, deeply, and broadly. I worked like hell. I used the public library in New York
extensively. | used other research. | read their books or papers or interviews. | called
professors and experts all over the United States and the world.

Mike would not accept second rate work. And I would do five of these a week. All | was
doing was research and question writing. Everything | learned, he already knew
something about It was very impressive, and extremely demanding. | had never quite met
anybody like that. Today he says he remembers me as an ink-stained wretch. | remember
him as a renaissance man. | learned from him how to link questions together to elicit the
most information in the shortest time.

For several months | did this Nightbeat program, 16 hours a day, seven days a week. Do
not think this assessment of time is exaggeration. If anything it is an understatement.
Then, just as this revolutionary program, which had received massive publicity, was
going network in prime time | received my draft notice.

Off I went to Ft. Dix. | was a rifleman in basic training. | was assigned to a Nike battalion
later on. Probably the most important public service I've ever done was to be a private in
the Eisenhower administration. He didn't know | was there, but I did. The army turned
out to be not so bad. Limited responsibility. Clear direction. Many good friends.
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| took the oath of office for the first of what turned out to be seven times, and with the
advantage of hindsight, perhaps the most important time. To have been a soldier of the
United States within the last 60 years is an honor and a privilege second to none.

Q: What did Mike Wallace do? | mean did you have to leave?

MERRILL: I had to leave, and he hired somebody else. The program flopped nationwide
because it changed from a hard nosed, well-researched, no- holds-barred interview into
more of an innocuous entertainment vehicle with a flabby quality that didn't quite make
it. But | didn't understand that at the time because | was in the army and had my hands
full.

Q: You served in the army in what, a Nike battalion?

MERRILL: Nike was the missile defense system we then used. It was outmoded because
it could go only 600 mph and there were many faster weapons than that. Nevertheless we
had Nike.

We have no missile defense whatever right now. | think it is incredible that at least two
dozen countries, including numerous rogue ones, have or will shortly have the capacity to
deliver chemical, biological, or nuclear weapons against this country. Most Americans
simply do not realize that we have no air defense system. Friends and allies are already
obviously vulnerable, including Europe. This is not to say that we need to defend against
10,000 massed missiles, which is not yet possible, but certainly we need to defend
ourselves against limited, or accidental, or terrorist attack. It is a national disgrace that we
can not do so.

Anyhow | went to a Nike battalion at Fort Wadsworth in the middle of Staten Island. |
just happened to be assigned there. You could be sent anywhere. | am also grateful to
basic training for one other thing --a total lack of responsibility. All I had to do was what
| was told. It was the only time in my life | was able to sleep comfortably standing up in
the back of a truck. | take that as a sign of mental ease. Somehow they found out that |
had been the editor of a college paper. | do not remember what my MOS was.

Q: Military occupation specialty.

MERRILL.: It was something normal. It might have said rifleman or something like
United States infantry. They said, "Listen, we've got a base newspaper here. Would you
like to work on it?" | said, "Sure.” I'd rather do that than march around a Nike base.
Actually the Nike base had several components. The headquarters was Fort Wadsworth,
but there were squadrons scattered around Staten Island. Firing a Nike is not a very
complicated deal. It's not like the Patriot. This thing was a quick cannon. You elevated it,
tracked the target, which was the most difficult part, and fired.

They assigned me to a sergeant who had been 20 years or so in the military and was half
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an alcoholic. Maybe a full alcoholic. It was his job to put out this newspaper. He didn't do
it very well. I remember | had to line up all the pencils on the desk in order of sharpness,
stuff like that.

This went on for two or three days, and | finally suggested a deal to him. You don't really
want to edit this paper. I will do it for you perfectly. The commanding officer will be
happy. The commanding general will be happy. The base will be happy. I will put every
item and picture in. It will all be done well. If possible I will get us an award. You go
over to the NCO club and leave me alone. | will take care of everything. Do you want to
make a deal or don't you?

He looked at me like | was crazy. Then he said, "You really mean that?" | said,
"Absolutely.” He said, "You will be certain there are no practical jokes, nothing funny, no
cute stuff, straight shot, 100%." We leaned over and shook hands. That was about the last
I saw of him. So | produced this paper and indeed won us a commendation.

It bemuses me to note that I also refused my Pfc. stripe on the grounds that I did not want
the responsibility, and it turned into one of the better management lessons | have ever
had.

The first one stemmed from running the Cornell Sun where | had to learn to say please
and thank you and to pay attention to the staff downward. It is basic management to set
an objective and take the steps necessary to reach it; and to extract a promise and hold
people to it. But this is a lot easier to do if you treat people with courtesy and dignity.
Please and thank you are the three most important words in the English language for
getting things done through other people. That was a terrific management lesson.

This was a different kind of lesson. In this lesson, the Army was promoting me to Pfc. |
said, I'm only in for six months and only have a few months to go, why bother? Well you
earned it. It is ahead of time and you have got to be a Pfc. before you leave. | said, "Look
what I have to do. | must sew on eight stripes. Two winter uniforms, two summer
uniforms. It costs two dollars for each stripe. That is 16 bucks. They pay me $17 a week."

At the time | had another of my old cars. It had a dead battery which I couldn’t replace
for over a month. | was dating Ellie, now my wife, who worked and lived in midtown
Manhattan. | would drive on the Staten Island ferry with this dead battery and very
limited gas. The guy behind would have to push me off and give me a start. The ferry had
three way alternating driveways. | was always terrified that some one with an MG or
other small foreign car would merge in behind me and be unable to push. It never
happened.

Still, I could only double park, and only on hills where | could get a downhill start. My
idea of a date was a ten cent beer with all the free little salty things. For a big date a
quarter for the newsreel theater in Grand Central Station was about the limit. Otherwise
we explored New York.
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Here they wanted me to spend 16 bucks I didn’t have for these stripes. So | thanked them
and said | really don't want the stripes. | don't need the responsibility. I'm not mad at
anybody. It's just not worth it to me.

Next thing | know, I'm standing before a regular United States Army captain who says to
me, "What's the matter with you, kid? You trying to screw up the unit here?" | said, "No,
Sir." This was long before Vietham mind you. This was the 1950s. "I just can’t afford to
sew an these eight stripes.”

This went back and forth with the Captain trying to determine if |1 was a trouble maker.
He said, "sixteen dollars? You don't have sixteen dollars? You don't want the
responsibility?” “ I'd just as soon leave my uniform alone and serve my time out,” I said.
“I really don't need to be a Pfc.”

This puzzled look crossed his face. | remember it to this day. He said, "Come back and
see me tomorrow. You sure you are not trying to do something screwy here?" | said, "Sir,
| am telling you the truth. You can see how I have worked here. I will try and do
everything I can to make you look good. |1 am not looking for trouble.”

The next day he said, "Okay, here are four chits for 25 cents each.” I said, "Eight chits for
25 cents each." So he combined the chits to get two for one. "You go down to the NCO
club and get the stripes sewn on by the tailor there. Here is an order to get him to do that.
Will you sew on the stripes?” | said, "Yes, Sir. Right away, Sir."

What was the lesson? The United States Army bent to me. That was the lesson. | say this
in a nice way.

When | bought the first company, when | was trying to put the budget together for the
Pentagon, the five year 1.5 trillion Reagan defense budget in 1981, | had no doubt that it
was possible to make the company, or the entire Department of Defense, bend to me.

It doesn't have to bend completely; it just has to go in the general direction that | want to
go. I think that this experience, minute though it seems, was very useful and when
necessary applicable.

Q: After you got out of the army in 1957, then what?

MERRILL: This was the fall of 1957. | was discharged penniless on Staten Island.

Q: I was an enlisted man in the ‘50s, around 1954, and I was getting around $15 a week.
There was no allowance for inflation.

MERRILL: They took taxes out of it. They provided meals at the base, but if you went
off the base on Saturdays or Sundays, or evenings, it cost money.

Q: Yes, and there were haircut costs and cleaning costs. You weren't living high off any

17



hog.

MERRILL: I had to find a job. But first | received the largest raise of my life -- 300% to
$45 a week by going on unemployment insurance. It was enough to rent a shared
apartment on 75th St. In Manhattan and look for work.

| was extremely naive. | am conscious that other 22 year olds, including my own
children, can be. I'm still naive in many ways. My view was that | wanted to go into the
business side of things. | had had a look at the editorial side of newspapers and television
and | sought business experience.

| was so naive that | thought real business was an advertising agency. That sounds a little
silly now but those were the years of the grey flannel suit. Madison Avenue was riding
high. Advertising agencies were big deals. They were getting the cream of the Harvard
Business School. In fact one of my roommates shortly thereafter was Charlie Patrick, an
engineer and HBS graduate who also worked at J. Walter Thompson where | quickly
landed.

Q: Very much so. This was very sexy in those days.

MERRILL: The first opportunity was a television job offered by two guys named
Goodson and Todman who were developing this quiz program. The idea was to have
three people line up, tell a story, and a panel would choose which was truthful and which
was fabricated. | was supposed to supply the people and develop the questions, akin
perhaps tangentially to the Mike Wallace experience.

I listened to them and concluded that this was one of the craziest proposals I'd ever heard.
Not with a ten foot pole would I touch it. Of course the program was To Tell the Truth
and Goodson and Todman eventually owned a lot more newspapers than | do.

I soon caught on at J. Walter Thompson, then the world’s largest advertising agency, to
work on the Ford account, which was their largest client. | was a kind of junior marketing
person copywriter. The job paid $100 a week.

Q: That wasn't bad.

MERRILL: Not bad? It was wonderful. $17 to $100 and climbing in less than a month.
That’s more than 500%, not that the money mattered. It really didn’t and never has.

What was important was the superb sales and marketing training | received from Joe
Stone, the chief creative and marketing person for Ford advertising. Advertising, which is
simply salesmanship in print or other media, is no different than news.

The context may differ but the same principles of conveying information simply, of

getting what is important up front quickly, such as a selling headline, of making clear
statements, of conveying and telling the truth, of identifying product benefits that make a
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difference to the consumer -- all of this has broad applicability. | am indebted to Joe
Stone for an education as good or better than any business school marketing course.

After a few months | got a $1,000 a year raise, and then another, and another. Of course
the business school types were still making far more than double or triple my salary. But
| was satisfied. | was dating Ellie and having a generally good time in New York.

She had also worked at Thompson, and subsequently as a Broadway press agent and a
public relations aide to the President of Time, Inc. Still | was getting restless in the job
and felt I could never really compete with the special skills of the very highly paid jingle
writers.

I never did quite understand what the heavily rewarded account people actually did. But
Joe Stone’s basics stuck. He saw something in me, although I really do not know what,
but it was somehow something other than regular copywriting or account type work.

| took a six months leave with no guarantee of a job upon returning. | traveled through
Europe, Turkey, the Middle East and North Africa. | worked a little doing small jobs for
J. Walter Thompson in London and in Bonn which gave me access to people. I could
have worked for them in London but after some indecision decided to return home. JWT
took me back which they had no obligation to do.

| worked there another six months or so, at one point handling in some important ways
the Ford dealer account. Also 1959 and 60 were very competitive years for Ford and its
chief competitor, Chevrolet. Chevy had for the time chic and radically rakish and popular
designs. Ford was introducing the Galaxie and the Falcon which amounted to new
product lines. It was quite a battle. Interestingly I met McNamara and lacocca in that
context. Of course | had no idea they were anything other than simply senior Ford
executives.

Q: You are speaking about Robert McNamara and Lee lacocca.

MERRILL: Yes. In about a year Robert McNamara would be president of Ford Motor
Company, albeit for a week before being named Secretary of Defense. He was from my
lowly perspective a senior production person interested in how to make and market the
product line.

lacocca, who | remember much more vividly, was the chief salesman. His success was
based on selling a '57 Ford for $57 a month. Not very complicated. But he sold far more
cars in West Virginia with that slogan than anybody else did on a per state basis in the
whole country. So he shot to the top. He was exactly the lacocca you know. Arrogant, top
heavy, cigar, etc. The classic American salesman. Willy Loman with a steam engine
inside.

With hindsight these two folk figures balanced one another. The ultimate salesman and
the ultimate numbers guru. Together they made sense. Each alone subsequently led to
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different kinds of inadequacy.
Are you really interested in all of this?
Q: | want to capture some more of it.

MERRILL: Let me conclude this section. | was asked do some work on a product called
Desenex, an athlete's foot powder. It was rather an interesting company in its own way.
One third cost of production, one third marketing, and one third profit.

What | remember with absolute clarity was watching six middle aged people, all of them
making more than $50,000 a year in 1960 dollars, intently discussing how to portray
applying this stuff. This at a time when a cabinet secretary or a Governor made $10,000 a
year. | said to myself there is one thing | know. | don't want to be like these people when
I'm 40 years old. Whatever it takes | have got to get out of here.

| started to look for a job. | was getting married. Our first apartment was a sixth floor
walk-up at 141 E. 26th St. One learns quickly not to forget things. Thompson was about
to send me to Australia to be the number two man in their Australian office. They were
promoting me up the chain. On our wedding day | declined that job and accepted instead
an offer from NBC as associate producer of a prime time network debate program called
The Nation's Future. In 1960 debates were in, and in a big way.

The net of the Thompson experience was that | received excellent lessons in sales and
marketing but | knew there had to be something more in life than that world provided. |
was treated very well and have nothing but good things to say about JWT or the people |
worked with there except that they lacked what might be called size.

I’ve subsequently served on boards with the CEOs of both Thompson and Young &
Rubicam. They are good people but their life was not for me. It is perhaps akin to being a
GS 15 inside the government. There's more to life than being a mid level bureaucrat. |
was 24. Somebody 40 was a mature person to me. My idea of maturity was somehow
something more although of course I had no idea what.

| had taken some night business school courses at NYU, basics such as organization or
finance. Very dimly | began to understand there was another side to business.

This debate program turned out to be NBC’s prime time public service contribution for
that year and was not renewed.

Looking for a job I was introduced in Washington somehow to Jim Thomson, who had
been Chester Bowles assistant as a Congressman and was with him at the State
Department, and also to Phil Stern, the heir to the Sears fortune and subsequently the
author of several excellent books.

Stern was Assistant Secretary of State for Public Affairs. Anyhow, | was hired into the
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State Department as a young aide to the Assistant Secretary for Public Affairs. This was
in 1961 as Kennedy came in.

Q: Who was the Secretary?

MERRILL: The Secretary was Dean Rusk. What we would now call the Deputy
Secretary , then The Under-Secretary, was Chet Bowles, who had been Governor of
Connecticut, ambassador to India, WW Il OPA Director, and a putative candidate for
President.

| worked in this office for about a month, during which | had lunch a couple of times with
Jim Thomson. | offered some suggestions about what Bowles should say in some
speeches, and also some policy ideas for regional meetings he was having with our
ambassadors overseas. | was asked to write these up, or outline them, which of course |
did, to the complete distress of my immediate boss, a division chief in Public Affairs.

A classic bureaucrat in the pejorative sense of the word, he did not believe | should be
doing anything other than working for him. Responding to the number two person in the
entire Department of State was not in my job description. The attitude was inane. One
would have thought this person, whose name | have long since forgotten, would have
utilized the opportunity to give himself visibility. He didn’t.

Within days | became a Special Assistant to the Deputy Secretary of State with an office
on the 7th floor two doors down from Secretary Rusk.

With the advantage of hindsight perhaps | was up to it. But at the time I had the feeling
that everyone | was working with or for knew more, had better training, and were
inherently if not more able at least more able to be able. All I could do was work as hard
as one human being possibly could and read everything that could be helpful by way of
background. | felt as though | was hanging on by my fingernails intellectually. There was
so much I needed to know.

Q: You came in in early '61. The Kennedy administration had come in. Were you caught
up in that period, in the spirit of Kennedy? Can you talk a little about how you as a young
person felt about what was happening in 1960-617?

MERRILL: It will be a combination of hyperbole, naivete, and corn. First, | had never
met people of this calibre before.

Bowles’ other assistants were the aforesaid Jim Thomson, a Ph.D. from Harvard and a
protégé of the country’s leading China scholar, John Fairbanks, whose history of China is
to this day the definitive work on the subject.

There was Sam Lewis, a career Foreign Service officer, with an advanced degree from

the Woodrow Wilson School at Princeton, and also one from John’s Hopkins School of
Advanced International Studies, where | am now a long time Board member. Sam, who
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has been one of my closest friends since, lent me all his savings ($10,000) in 1968 when |
bought the company. He subsequently became an Assistant Secretary of State,
ambassador to Israel for seven years, and Director of the Policy Planning Council.

And there was me, rather like a bit player, without any demonstrated interest or
experience in foreign affairs, and no real record of excellence in anything. | remember
Phil Stern congratulating me for winning what he called “a spot on the Bowles team,”
and sincerely wishing me luck in holding it down.

| was determined to do so because somehow | recognized that it was a key turning point
in life. There have, incidentally, been five such points; the first year or so respectively in
college, in the State Department, buying the company, in the Department of Defense, and
at NATO. Each demanded prodigious intellectual, managerial, or entrepreneurial stretch.

Bowles had an immense impact on me. He is still the single greatest man I ever met. |
defer to no one on that. | have worked with several Secretaries of State and Defense, and
many other senior officials in several Administrations. Most | know on a first name basis.
I have also known and worked with a number of leading businessmen, Governors, and
University Presidents.

Looking over my papers for this interview, for example, | came across an old resume of
mine with references from Henry Kissinger, Dean Rusk, and Walt Rostow. | make this
self important point only to underline the extent to which Bowles was in a league by
himself. He had a phenomenal impact on my life.

Was | caught up in the spirit of the time? Yes, we all were. We were going to reinvigorate
America and remake the world. Washington was an exciting place to be.

Perhaps the spirit is best reflected in two key phrases from Kennedy’s inaugural address:
the one relating to bear any burden, pay any price, to assure the survival and success of
liberty; the other about welcoming the opportunity granted to only a few generations to
defend freedom at an hour of maximum danger.

Those sentences can easily be interpreted today as overblown. Indeed in 1988 Sam Lewis
and | had a rather vigorous discussion sailing up the Severn River on this very point. |
said they were still valid. He thought they had become hyperbolic.

Considering that the Soviet Union collapsed completely the following year, whatever the
answer we have certainly accomplished the primary mission of our generation. It is not
unwarranted triumphalism to state that the victory of free market representative systems
over communist centralized totalitarian ones is assuredly one of the great turning points
of human history.

In 1961 the map of the world looked very different. VVast amounts of territory were

colored red for Communist. A lot less was colored blue for democratic. For years on the
wall in my office, both in and out of government, | kept a map showing Soviet tank
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battalions in Eastern Europe compared with NATO tank battalions in Western Europe.
There were more red ones by many multiples. Indeed right up to the end the Russians
maintained 110 tank battalions along the border. These are, of course, purely offensive
weapons. No one uses tanks for defense. The perception was that the Soviet Union had
grabbed the lead, that somehow communism and totalitarianism were on the rise around
the world. The Russians had the lead in space. They appeared to be winning. We were
falling behind.

A similar thing was happening domestically. There was a desire, expressed in President
Kennedy’s campaign theme, to get the country moving again. So in foreign affairs, in
space, and in domestic policy there arose an idealistic demand for purpose and vision.

We were out to save the free world. The inaugural address, entirely devoted to foreign
policy, really did reflect the time. It is one of only two such documents | have framed on
my home office wall, the other being the Declaration of Independence.

| have summaries of all the papers from Bowles to the Secretary and the President from
1961 to 1963. | was asked to go through these memoranda and extract the essence of
them in two or three lines on an unclassified basis.

For example, there was a 1961 memorandum opposing the Bay of Pigs on the grounds
that we had only had a one in three chance of winning, that should the Russians provide
military assistance to Cuba, or place missiles there, we could always blockade the island
and cut them off. Rather foresighted considering this was before the invasion.

There was a 1962 memorandum opposing the 18,000 military “advisors” in Vietnam
saying we had to settle for neutralization or we would have 300,000 troops there in five
years. It began with “Although I do not wish to play the role of Cassandra...” | worked on
that paper. Opposed though we all were to further military involvement in Vietnam, even
| thought it was hyperbolic at the time. Looking back the foresight is astonishing.

| also have memoranda to Sidney Hyman, the Presidential historian, from Sam, Jim, and
me relating to the Administration’s first two years in foreign affairs. These were 30 page
papers he asked us to provide. Mine says at one point that there are many who suggest
that Kennedy might go down as a Grover Cleveland type President but he isn't going to
change the face of the world. It shows you what some contemporaries thought.

There was this feeling that after eight years the Eisenhower Administration had gotten
tired but that we had been frustrated in moving the country forward by difficult Russians,
intractable foreign affairs problems, stubborn Congressional committee chairmen, and
our own inabilities.

One salient point | made to Hyman was that Bowles was never meant to be a number
two. His idea of running something was to appoint good people and give them their head.
Bowles, who originally hoped to be Secretary, had originally suggested Rusk for the no.
2 spot. So apparently had numerous others. Kennedy then offered Rusk the Secretary’s
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position, giving Bowles a choice of three cabinet spots dealing with domestic affairs or
number two at State. Bowles chose number two.

This was a mistake. Rusk's system was to trust the system. He came in to the department
without a single assistant. The foreign Service simply assigned one; my friend, Brandon
Grove. Rusk had worked there before and trusted the Foreign Service to assign a capable
officer, which they did.

Bowles believed in selecting people, inside or outside, as the situation or the job required.
The executive that believes in systems belongs as number two; the one that believes in
people belongs as number one.

| said that then before | went into business on my own and | repeat it now. | am totally a
believer in people. Get the right people and everything else takes care of itself. Nothing is
even close to the importance of picking good people. Good people will develop good
systems. Put more graphically, hire Haldeman and Ehrlichman, as President Nixon did,
and you see what results.

Q: I'd like to get this at the beginning of any assignment. You were with Bowles from
when to when?

MERRILL: '61 to '63.
Q: How did he use you and the rest of his staff?

MERRILL: He used us as eyes and ears and to help with policy papers and speeches. He
would also assign a task, such as reorganization of the bureau of public affairs, or
whether to support the huge Volta river dam Averell Harriman wanted to build in Africa.
We also screened the daily cable traffic.

He undertook a comprehensive review of the performance of all U.S. ambassadors after
the first two years. There were innumerable policy papers. Several, for example, dealt
with the importance of exploiting the potential for a Sino-Soviet split. This was unheard
of in 1961-62, with the so-called China lobby still running strong. Indeed, the Bureau of
Far Eastern Affairs was so hidebound that every reference in a speech or cable to China,
even Red China, would come through the clearance process with red regime invariably
substituted.

Bowles was frustrated in the number two job and did a lot of memo writing and policy
papers. | helped out on many of these.

Government is full of bright young people who were alumni of his. Doug Bennet, former
head of national Public Radio, Assistant Secretary of State for International
Organizations, and now President of Waverly. Dick Celeste became Governor of Ohio.
Tom Hughes headed the Carnegie Endowment. John Kenneth Galbraith, the economist,
got his start as an aide to Bowles at OPA in WW 1. The list goes on and on.
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He would use us as sounding boards, as writers and editors, and also as a way of staying
in touch with current thinking. It is the course of wisdom for people in their fifties and
sixties to stay current with the thinking of the next generation.

We were each assigned a continent, which except for Jim Thomson with his expertise on
China and the Far East, we would switch from time to time. Each morning | would screen
the cables for my area and highlight, summarize, or when appropriate, pass on. There
were hundreds of them. I soon learned that one could only have time to look over those
marked Secret or higher into the code words. Eyes only would still come through me.
One developed a feeling quite quickly about what a senior executive needed to know
each day from around the world. There is so much going on and yet it is graspable.

| would frequently sit in for him at the Secretary's staff meetings. I'd sit in the back of the
room, but | went to the Secretary of State's staff meetings. After he got fired as
Undersecretary he became the President's Representative for Asia, Africa, and Latin
America with offices in the White House and the State Department. | used EOB office
383 at the White House half the time and, since the NSC was not quite as formal as it is
now, | would frequently represented Bowles at NSC staff meetings.

It was the first time | understood that there really was such a thing as a great man. There
are some great men now. Zbigniew Brzezinski is a great man. | attend Brzezinski's
current affairs lunch every other Tuesday. He is a great man. This doesn't mean that |
agree with him on everything. I'm simply saying there are people of size who transcend
their time. They have the capacity to pull together people, ideas, and policy.

Brzezinski is an academic genius. He goes unerringly and consistently straight to the
heart of every issue we discuss. Bowles had a different kind of genius. Somehow he
possessed this immense capacity for inspiration. | never left his office, no matter how bad
the situation or how difficult the issue, without feeling that I could lick the world and
whip my weight in wildcats.

Howie Schaeffer, who wrote a biography of Bowles, sums it up well in his concluding
paragraph:

“Bowles greatest legacy to governance...was

the inspiration he gave to generations of talented
young people to play a role in public life. He offered
them a vision of what needed to be accomplished
and gave them remarkable opportunities for making

their mark....He played the role of mentor well before
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that term came into popular use. Many of those he

imbued with his unique sense of idealism and mission

hold prominent positions today. They, and the country,

owe a great debt to him for the way he helped mold

them and for what he helped them to aspire and attain.”

That unique sense of idealism and mission captures Chet, as we all called him, perfectly.
| am indebted to exposure to Chet for everything | have done in my life more by far than
to any other single person or combination of persons. I know that Sam Lewis feels the
same way.

| learned three great lessons from Chet that ultimately changed the course of my life:
First, | learned what one man can do.

Second, | learned what it means to stand for something.

Third, I learned what the United States is about in a fundamental moral sense.

| concede it is a metaphysical kind of relationship, but | believe that everything | have
done in life is directly connected to those three lessons. This is not the place to elucidate
or pontificate on them. If the reader does not understand what | mean I feel sorry for him
or her.

In the end, or at least so far, | have done perhaps more than | could have, but also less
than | should have, or am capable of, to advance the cause of freedom and to promote
equal opportunity.
Were | a third of a Chet Bowles | would be very proud indeed. As it is | have tried to
pattern my life on his where possible, however imperfectly, and allowing for different
time and circumstance. | have tried to combine those special traits of idealism, mission,
opportunity, optimism, and inspiration in both public and private life.

So you see the impact was extraordinary.

Q: There is nothing like bright young people working as staff assistants to somebody to
figure out what the relationship is between the principals. What did you make of the

relationship between Rusk and Bowles from your perspective at that time.

MERRILL: I dealt with this in the memorandum to Sydney Hyman referenced earlier. It
can be summed up by saying Bowles was a born number one and Rusk was a born
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number two.

It was very simple. Bowles was frustrated. Sometimes he would send Rusk a 50 page
paper and get it back marked very good D.R. Rusk is a Buddha. He sits there and says
nothing. He was wrong on the central issue of our time which was Vietnam. But he was
right on a lot of other things. He never gave up being wrong because he would never
change his mind on Vietnam.

| think it stemmed out of the fact that he was head of the China Burma India theater
during W.W.II and thought he knew the territory. Otherwise he would have had a more
realistic appreciation of it. It rather reminds me of the Churchill story about the British
Empire being built by never ever listening to the man on the spot.

Anyway, the two were different types. The cool, laconic, play it close to your chest
bureaucratic expert, which Ru